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State of Missouri
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)
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)




)


vs.

)

No. 07-0755 PO



)

DONNIE R. LUTHER,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


The Director of Public Safety (“Director”) may discipline Donnie R. Luther for committing the crime of stealing government funds.    

Procedure


The Director filed the complaint on May 16, 2007.  On May 19, 2008, Luther received personal service of notice of this case, a copy of the complaint, and notice of the hearing date.  On July 30, 2008, this Commission convened a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher Fehr represented the Director.  Luther made no appearance.  

Our reporter filed the transcript on July 31, 2008.    
Findings of Fact

1. At all relevant times, Luther held a current and active peace officer license.  
2. Between February 1, 2002, and September 16, 2005, Luther was employed as a peace officer by the City of Kansas City, Missouri, Police Department (“the Department”).  Each 
year from 2002 through 2005, the Department received more than $10,000 in federal grants from the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, a federal agency, to fund traffic law enforcement (the “federal funds”).  Between February 1, 2002, and September 16, 2005, Luther falsely claimed $40,378.74 in federal funds for hours he did not work.   
3. On June 27, 2006, based on the conduct in Finding 2, Luther entered a plea of guilty to a criminal information charging him with a violation of 18 USC § 666(a)(1)(A).  On October 12, 2006, the United States District Court (“the court”) found Luther guilty on his guilty plea and imposed a sentence.  

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear a complaint from the Director.
  The Director has the burden to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence,
 facts on which discipline is allowed by law.  The law at issue is the law cited in the complaint.
  The complaint charges:  
10.  The license of respondent should be disciplined based on his violation of § 590.080.1(2) RSMo.

Section 590.080.1(2) allows discipline if Luther:

[h]as committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed[.]

The criminal statute cited in the complaint is 18 USC § 666(a)(1)(A):  
(a) Whoever, if the circumstance described in subsection (b) of this section exists--


(1) being an agent of an organization, or of a State, local, or Indian tribal government, or any agency thereof—



(A) embezzles, steals, obtains by fraud, or otherwise without authority knowingly converts to the use of any person other than the rightful owner or intentionally misapplies, property that—




(i) is valued at $5,000 or more, and




(ii) is owned by, or is under the care, custody, or control of such organization, government, or agency[.]
*   *   *

(b) The circumstance referred to in subsection (a) of this section is that the organization, government, or agency receives, in any one year period, benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program involving a grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance, or other form of Federal assistance.

To show that Luther committed that conduct, the Director offers two theories.  
I. Regulations
The complaint argues:

9.  As used in § 590.080.1 RSMo, the phrase “committed any criminal act”[
] includes a person who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense and the Director has cause to discipline any peace officer who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.  11 CSR 75-13 .090(2)(A) and 11 CSR 75-13 .090(3)(C).

We do not apply the Director’s regulations in complaint paragraph 9 for three reasons. 

a.  Redefining a Federal Criminal Offense


First, Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(2)(A) purports to expand the federal statutory definition of Luther’s crime:
(2) As used in section 590.080.1, RSMo:


(A) The phrase has “committed any criminal offense” includes a person who has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.  

That language plainly purports to expand every criminal offense’s definition beyond its statutory limits, including those set by authorities other than the Missouri General Assembly.  The Director has no power to broaden any statute by rulemaking.
  In that regard, Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(2)(A) is contrary to law.
b.  Judicial Proceedings as Cause for Discipline
Second, Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(3)(C) provides:

(3) Pursuant to section 590.080.1(6), RSMo, the Director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(C) Has pleaded guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of a criminal offense, whether or not a sentence has been imposed.

We cannot apply that language because it plainly contradicts, though it purports to interpret, 

§ 590.080.1(6):

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


(6) Has violated a provision of this chapter or a rule promulgated pursuant to this chapter.  

Nothing in § 590.080.1(6)’s words allows discipline for any judicial proceeding, criminal or otherwise.  In that regard, Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(3)(C) is contrary to law.  Also, 
§ 590.080.1(6) does not appear in the complaint, and we cannot find cause for discipline under provisions of law not cited in the complaint.
  

c.  Rulemaking Authority


Third, if we could apply § 590.080.1(6), we would not apply Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(2)(A) and (3)(C) because those provisions are not part of “a rule promulgated pursuant to this chapter” –  590, RSMo.  Chapter 590, RSMo, did not authorize the promulgation of Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090.  Chapter 590, RSMo, gave the Director rulemaking power under § 590.123.1
 “to effectuate the purposes of this chapter [590, RSMo.]”  The purposes of Chapter 590 nowhere included creating disciplinary grounds by rulemaking.  But, even if it did, the General Assembly repealed the authority “to effectuate the purposes of this chapter [590, RSMo.]” effective August 28, 2001.
  

Thus, on August 31, 2001, the General Assembly granted the Director rule-making power only as to continuing education.
  Listing one subject matter raises a presumption of excluding others.
  Avoiding the addition of words to the statute,
 we presume that the General Assembly granted that authority because it intended to grant only that authority.  


Eight months later, the Director first promulgated Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090 in a notice of rulemaking filed on May 1, 2002.
  The regulation was not effective until October 30, 2002, more than a year after the repeal of § 590.123.1, RSMo 2000, which was the only possible authority for such regulation.  

Unlike other licensing agencies, the Director had no statutory authority to make regulations allowing discipline
 when he published his Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090.  Section 590.080.1 does not, itself, contain any language authorizing rulemaking.  The Director had no 
authority in § 590.080.1(6) or elsewhere in the statutes to discipline a licensee based solely on a judicial proceeding.
  Judicial proceedings are, nevertheless, the sole factual grounds for discipline in Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(3)(C).  That regulation is a substantive provision, not a mere internal policy for the Director’s own decisions,
 a principle of evidence,
 or an interpretation of statute.
  The statutes alone provide authority to discipline a peace officer.
  In that regard, Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090(3)(C) is contrary to law.
  

Section 590.190 now provides:  

The director is authorized to promulgate rules and regulations to implement the provisions of this chapter.

Even if that regulation authorizes the Director to create causes for discipline by rule, it does not aid the Director’s case because the Director cites no regulation published under that authority.

II.  Evidence
The complaint also argues:  
8.  Respondent’s conduct as set forth at paragraphs 6 and 7 violates § 590.080.1(2), RSMo.[
] 

Paragraph 6 of the complaint alleges:  
Between February 1, 2002 and September 16, 2005, while employed as a peace officer in the City of Kansas City, Missouri, the Respondent participated in a program that involved traffic law enforcement grants provided by the federal government.  During this time period the Respondent received approximately 
$40,378.74 in federal grant money by falsely claiming work-hours for grant overtime purposes he did not work.    

In support of that allegation, paragraph 7 of the complaint alleges:  

7.  On June 27, 2006, the Respondent plead [sic] guilty to the crime of Theft of Government Funds by Fraud or Deceit, 18 U.S.C. 666(a)(1)(A), in U.S. District Court and on October 12, 2006 was sentenced to 4 years probation and was ordered to pay restitution of $40,378.74.  

Case law provides that Luther’s guilty plea is evidence that he committed the conduct charged
 because it constitutes an admission against interest.
  Such evidence is not conclusive and is subject to rebuttal.
  Luther has not offered any rebuttal.  But even if he did, the court’s judgment triggers the doctrine of collateral estoppel, which prevents Luther from re-litigating his guilt.
  On those grounds, we have made our Finding of Fact 2.  Such facts constitute “committing a criminal offense” under 18 U.S.C. 666(a)(1)(A), which is cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(2).  
Summary


There is cause to discipline Luther under § 590.080.1(2).  

SO ORDERED on September 15, 2008.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.,


Commissioner
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